1991

Joseph Edward McPherson, Joan Elissa McPherson v. Vaughn Belnap, Jeffrey Belnap : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

This is an appeal from a Judgment of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction. The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to §78-2-2(3)(j), *Utah Code Ann.* (Supp. 1990).

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES
AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

For purposes of clarity, and to avoid confusion, defendant-appellant Vaughn Belnap will be referred to as "Vaughn". Codefendant Jeffrey Belnap will be identified as "Jeffrey". Plaintiffs-appellees Joseph and Joan McPherson will be referred to as "McPherson".

1. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that Vaughn entered into a contract of bailment with McPherson, that Vaughn and

McPherson stood in the relationship of bailee and bailor and that McPherson's personal property was delivered to Vaughn rather than Jeffrey.

2. Assuming, for the sake of argument, that a bailment was created, whether the trial court erred in concluding that it was a bailment for mutual benefit, as opposed to a gratuitous bailment and that, consequently, a standard of simple negligence, as opposed to gross negligence, was applicable.

3. Whether the trial court erred in imposing a presumption of negligence on Vaughn.

4. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that Vaughn was negligent and that his negligence proximately caused McPherson's injuries.

5. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that Vaughn did not rebut the presumption, if any, that he was negligent and that his negligence caused the loss of McPherson's personal property.

These combined issues of law and fact each require the review of a finding of fact. The standard of appellate review requires that Vaughn marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence, thus making them clearly erroneous. (*Matter of Estate of Bartell*, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989)).

**STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS
WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE**

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations whose interpretation is determinative of the issues on appeal in this matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

McPherson brought suit in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County against Vaughn and Jeffrey to recover damages allegedly arising from the conversion of certain items of personal property or, in the alternative, arising from a breach of a contract of bailment. (Complaint, Record on Appeal, p. 2-6).

Vaughn was served with a Summons and a copy of the Complaint. (R. 8-10). Jeffrey was not served with a Summons and the case proceeded solely against Vaughn.

Vaughn filed his Answer on June 13, 1989 (R. 11-15) and his Amended Answer on May 30, 1990. (R. 42-47).

The case was tried to the Court, without a jury, the Honorable John A. Rokich, presiding, on August 30, 1990.

After hearing testimony and the arguments and representations of counsel, the Court took the matter under advisement. (R. 84).

On September 14, 1990, the Court rendered its Memorandum Decision in which it found that McPherson entered into a contract of bailment with Vaughn, pursuant to which Vaughn stored certain items of personal property belonging to McPherson, the personal property was

stolen, a presumption arose to the effect that Vaughn was negligent, Vaughn "failed to prove that the loss of the furniture was not as a result of his negligence" and McPherson was damaged in the amount of \$6,000. (R. 99-102).

McPherson submitted Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Vaughn filed his Objections to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 141-144).

Vaughn then filed a Motion for New Trial and/or to Direct Entry of Judgment in Favor of Defendant. (R. 150-151).

On January 2, 1991, the Court rendered its Memorandum Decision denying the Motion for New Trial. On January 24, 1991, the Court entered its Order denying the Motion for New Trial and the Objections to Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 199-200).

On January 24, 1991, the Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 201-206). Judgment was entered on January 28, 1991. (R. 207-209).

Vaughn's Notice of Appeal was filed on February 25, 1991. (R. 210-211).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Vaughn leased a condominium unit to McPherson during the month of September, 1988. (Trial Transcript, p. 37, lns. 4-7).

In late November, 1988, Vaughn requested that McPherson voluntarily vacate the condominium unit because Jeffrey had offered to buy the unit from Vaughn and because Jeffrey was "going through a

divorce" and it would be convenient for him to move into the condominium. (Trial Transcript, p. 38, lns. 6-17; p. 7, lns. 24-25; p. 8 lns. 1-11).

McPherson agreed to vacate the condominium unit. (Trial Transcript, p. 8, lns. 12-25; p. 9, lns.1-8; p. 38, lns. 21-25; p. 39, lns. 1-9).

McPherson found alternative lodging in a furnished apartment and informed Vaughn that he had no room to store his furniture. (Trial Transcript, p. 9, lns. 22-25; p. 10, lns. 1-4).

Vaughn told McPherson that Jeffrey had no furniture because he was in the process of obtaining a divorce (Trial Transcript, p. 10, lns. 12-16) and that he would speak with Jeffrey concerning McPherson's proposal to leave the furniture in the condominium unit. (Trial Transcript, p. 62, lns. 8-22).

Jeffrey agreed to keep the furniture in the condominium unit which he would occupy. (Trial Transcript, p. 63, lns. 5-6).

Vaughn then informed McPherson that Jeffrey had agreed to let him leave some of the furniture in the condominium unit (Trial Transcript, p. 63, lns. 9-11).

McPherson advised Vaughn of his concerns about the safety of his property while it was in the condominium unit. Vaughn stated that it would probably be fine. (Trial Transcript, p. 73, lns. 10-16).

After McPherson vacated the condominium unit, Jeffrey immediately occupied the condominium unit as a tenant, paying rent to Vaughn

in the same amount as was paid by McPherson. (Trial Transcript, p. 64, lns. 5-17).

Vaughn did not, at any time, have the possession, or use, of McPherson's furniture. (Trial Transcript, p. 64, lns. 18-23).

McPherson acknowledged that the furniture was left in the condominium for Jeffrey's use. (Trial Transcript, p. 35, lns. 12-18).

The furniture and other items of personal property owned by McPherson and left in the condominium unit rented by Jeffrey were stolen on December 15, 1988. (Trial Transcript, p. 46, lns. 2-5; p. 47, lns. 1-3; p. 49, lns. 10-17).

On December 15, 1988, a neighbor saw a pickup truck occupied by two men loaded with furniture parked in front of the condominium unit occupied by Jeffrey. Neither Vaughn nor Jeffrey were occupants of the truck. (Trial Transcript, p. 55, lns. 11-25; p. 56, lns. 1-4).

The police officer investigating the crime found no evidence of forcible entry. The theft was reported at 11:30 p.m. (Trial Transcript, p. 47, lns. 15-17).

Vaughn lived in the condominium unit prior to the time it was occupied by McPherson. At the time Vaughn lived in the unit the doors were equipped with dead bolt locks and normal security was provided. There was no difference in the security of the condominium unit at the time it was occupied by Vaughn and the time of the theft. (Trial Transcript, p. 68, lns. 21-25; p. 69, lns. 1-8).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. An essential element of the existence of a bailment, and therefore the creation of the relationship of bailor and bailee, is that the bailee have actual possession and control of the bailed property. Although the trial court found that McPherson's property was placed in the possession and control of Vaughn, there is no evidence to support this finding. In fact, the undisputed evidence is that McPherson's furniture was stored in the condominium unit rented and occupied by Jeffrey, that Jeffrey had the use of the furniture and that McPherson intended that Jeffrey have the use of the furniture. Thus, an essential element of a bailee-bailor relationship is absent and the court erred in finding that such a relationship existed between Vaughn and McPherson.

In addition, the only evidence with respect to the existence of an agreement between Vaughn and McPherson concerning the storage of the furniture is that Vaughn acted as an intermediary between McPherson and Jeffrey, rather than as a party to the agreement. Thus, the finding of the trial court is against the clear weight of the evidence.

2. The Court erred in finding that a bailment for mutual benefit, as opposed to a gratuitous bailment, was created and consequently it erroneously applied a standard of ordinary care, rather than gross negligence. In the context of a bailment for mutual benefit, the bailee must exercise ordinary care. A gratuitous bailee is liable only for acts of gross negligence. Although McPherson argued that Vaughn used the

furniture to further the sale of the condominium, the only evidence before the Court established that Jeffrey offered to purchase the condominium prior to any negotiations concerning furniture storage. As Jeffrey, not Vaughn, had the use and benefit of the furniture, Vaughn did not receive a benefit from the alleged bailment. Therefore, the bailment, if any, was gratuitous and Vaughn may be held liable only for acts of gross negligence.

3. McPherson did not present any evidence, or even identify, any acts of specific negligence on the part of Vaughn. In essence, McPherson prevailed at the trial court because the court imposed a presumption of negligence. A presumption of negligence in the context of a bailment may be imposed only where the bailee has exclusive possession of the bailed goods and exclusive control of the premises in which the goods are stored. There is no evidence that Vaughn had either exclusive possession of the bailed goods or exclusive control of the condominium unit in which McPherson's furniture was stored. In fact, the undisputed evidence establishes that Vaughn did not have exclusive possession of McPherson's furniture or exclusive control of the condominium unit. Therefore, the Court erred in imposing a presumption of negligence. As no evidence of specific acts of negligence or causation was presented, the trial court's decision should be reversed.

4. Assuming the trial court incorrectly imposed a presumption of negligence, the record is devoid of any evidence of any specific acts of negligence, ordinary or gross, on the part of Vaughn. Thus, absent a

presumption of negligence, the decision of the trial court must be reversed.

5. Vaughn successfully rebutted the presumption of negligence. Once a presumption of negligence arises, the burden of going forward with the evidence, but not the burden of persuasion, shifts to the bailee. The only evidence which was presented concerning Vaughn's care of the bailed goods is that he exercised the same care with respect to the bailed goods as he did with respect to his own property. That is, the condominium unit was secured with deadbolt locks. In addition, Jeffrey testified that he specifically recalled securing the unit on the day of the theft. As McPherson relied solely on the presumption of negligence and that presumption was rebutted, the trial court erred in awarding Judgment to McPherson.

ARGUMENT

I.

VAUGHN DID NOT ENTER INTO A CONTRACT OF BAILMENT WITH MCPHERSON

A.

Elements of Bailment

The trial court found that Vaughn and McPherson entered into a contract of bailment, that they therefore stood in the relationship of bailee and bailor and that McPherson's personal property was delivered to Vaughn, rather than Jeffrey. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, (R. 203, ¶ 7; 204, ¶ 1) (see Addendum).

As stated at 8 Am. Jur. 2d BAILMENTS § 2,

A "bailment" in its ordinary legal signification, imports the delivery of personal property by one person to another in trust for a specific purpose, with a contract, express or implied, that the trust shall be faithfully executed and the property returned or duly accounted for when the special purpose is accomplished or kept until the bailor reclaims it. (*id.* at 738)

Inherent in this definition is the requirement that the bailee have actual possession and control of the subject of the bailment. In *Marsh vs. American Locker Co.*, 7 N.J. Super. 81, 72 A.2d 343 (1950), the Court stated this proposition as follows:

Although conflicting views have been expressed by the authorities as to whether common law bailments necessarily arise out of contract, they all recognize the need that there be possession of the property by the bailee. See 4 Williston, *Contracts* (rev. ed. 1936) pp. 2888, 2890; Brown, *Personal Property* (1936) pp. 225, 230. (72 A.2d at 344)

Similarly, in *1440 Park Road Parking, Inc. vs. Consolidated Mutual Insurance Company*, 168 A.2d 900 (D.C. Mun. App. 1961), the Court noted that: "[t]he creation of a bailment requires that **possession and control** over an object pass from the bailor to the bailee". (168 A.2d at 901) (emphasis added).

The Court, in *Broadus vs. Commercial National Bank*, 113 Okla. 10, 237 P. 538 (1925), held that to constitute a bailment there must be a delivery and full transfer of the property to the bailee, so as to exclude the possession of the owner and all other persons and give to the bailee, for the time being, the sole custody and control of the property. (237 P. at 584).

More recently the Oregon Court of Appeals, in *Dundas vs. Lincoln County*, 48 Or. App. 1025, 618 P.2d 978 (1980), stated that "[i]n order for a bailment to exist, the bailee must have both possession and physical control . . .". (618 P.2d at 982).

Thus, in order for Vaughn and McPherson to stand in the relationship of bailee and bailor, the evidence must establish (a) the delivery of personal property to Vaughn; (b) a contract, express or implied, that Vaughn would hold the personal property in trust for McPherson; (c) actual possession and physical control of the bailed property by Vaughn; and (d) an agreement that the bailed property would be safely returned to McPherson.

**B.
Evidence Supporting
Trial Court's Finding**

The evidence which supports the finding of the trial court as to the existence of a bailment is as follows:

1. McPherson testified, on direct examination, as follows:

A: . . . we had found a place but it was furnished and now we had to do something with our furniture. And he [Vaughn] indicated at that time that his - it was his son and - it would be his son moving in and he was just getting divorced and he had no furniture. And so it was - you know, he said, well, he [Jeffrey] wouldn't mind if that was left there, he would take good care of it. . . . But it was Vaughn who was the person I was dealing with because it was Vaughn who had bought our house.

Mr. Reed: Objection, your Honor. The answer at this point is not responsive.

The Court: The objection is sustained.

(Trial Transcript, p. 10, lns. 10-25).

2. McPherson also testified that his understanding of the agreement concerning the furniture was that " . . . the furniture was just to be left there long enough until we could find a permanent place to live". (Trial Transcript, p. 11, lns. 15-17).

3. As to the basis for McPherson's belief that his agreement was with Vaughn, as opposed to Jeffrey, McPherson testified as follows:

A: Well, being the basis - the basis of the understanding was that the furniture was just to be left long enough until we could find a place to live and it was done with - my whole dealings were with Vaughn. It was Vaughn who had purchased our home. It was Vaughn with which I had developed a comfort zone with, and that was basically it. I was going off assurances that his son was responsible and would take care of the property.

(Trial Transcript, p. 11, lns. 21-25; p. 12, lns. 1-4).

4. In response to questioning by the Court about statements made by the parties concerning the alleged agreement, McPherson stated:

The Witness: When we were talking we said now we're going to have to find a place for the furniture. At that time he [Vaughn] said that his son had no furniture, he was just going through a divorce and, you know, if we wanted to leave the furniture there that would be fine until we could find a permanent place for it, because - this thing was

very inconvenient thing for everyone involved.

The Court: What did you say?

The Witness: I said that was fine. The only thing we were concerned about was, you know, whether or not Jeff would take care of the - you know, be responsible for the furniture, I mean take care of it.

(Trial Transcript, p. 14, lns. 7-20).

5. As to possession and control of the bailed property, McPherson testified, on cross examination, as follows:

Q: (By Mr. Reed) . . . Just so I'm straight on this, did Jeff Belnap move into the condominium unit right after you moved out?

A: I believe so.

Q: And the furniture was left in the condominium for Jeff to use?

A: Yes.

. . .

Q: Did you have access to the furniture if you wanted it?

A: Only by contacting someone ahead of time and letting them know that we would be making arrangements.

Q: You would just call Jeff and say, hey I want to come by and get my television?

A: Jeff or Vaughn.

(Trial Transcript, p. 35, lns. 12-25; p. 36, lns. 1-4)

6. Vaughn's testimony concerning arrangements to leave the furniture in the apartment rented and occupied by Jeffrey is as follows:

Q: (By Mr. Reed) What did you say? Or, well, perhaps what did Mr. McPherson say would be more appropriate?

A: Mr. McPherson told me that they had found a furnished apartment at American Towers, that they were in the process of making an offer or a deal on another home, that it would be very inconvenient for them to have to move all the furniture to a storage unit and then take it to the house, did I think it was possible or did Jeff agree to them leaving some of their belongings in the condominium.

Q: What did you say to that request?

A: I responded, Jeff would probably be delighted since he was going through a divorce and his wife had taken everything he had and he would probably come with his toothbrush and personal belongings, but that I would call Jeff and explain the situation to him.

Q: Did you call Jeff concerning this proposal?

A: Yes I did.

. . .

Q: (By Mr. Reed) Did Jeff agree to keep the furniture?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you have any other conversations with Mr. McPherson concerning storage of the furniture?

A: No, not other than calling him and telling him Jeff had agreed to let him leave some of the items there.

(Trial Transcript, p. 62, lns. 6-24; p. 63, lns. 5-11).

7. No evidence was presented which even suggests that Jeffrey was an agent, or acted under the direction or control, of Vaughn. In fact, the only evidence presented concerning their relationship, other than familial, concerned the lease of the condominium unit by Jeffrey.

Q: (By Mr. Reed) Did Jeff move into this condominium unit?

A: (By Vaughn) Yes he did.

Q: Did he pay rent for the unit?

A: Yes he did.

Q: Did he pay rent to you?

A: Yes.

Q: What was the amount of rent?

A: I believe it was \$750.00 a month.

Q: Was that the same amount as was paid by Mr. McPherson?

A: Yes.

Q: I take it then Jeffrey was a tenant?

A: He was at the time.

(Trial Transcript, p. 64, lns. 5-17).

8. As to actual physical possession and control of the bailed property, the only evidence offered is as follows:

A: (By McPherson) . . . It was his son and - it would be his son moving and he [Jeffrey] was just getting divorced and he [Jeffrey] had no furniture. And so it

was - you know, he [Vaughn] said well he [Jeffrey] wouldn't mind if it was left there, he [Jeffrey] would take good care of it.

(Trial Transcript, p. 10, lns. 12-16).

A: (By McPherson) I was going off assurances that his son [Jeffrey] was responsible and would take care of the property.

(Trial Transcript, p. 12, lns. 2-4).

A: (By McPherson) The only thing we were concerned about was, you know, whether or not Jeff would take care of the - you know, be responsible for the furniture, I mean take care of it.

(Trial Transcript, p. 14, lns. 17-20).

Q: (By Mr. Reed) Did you ever have any of Mr. McPherson's furniture in your possession?

A: (By Vaughn) No I not. [sic]

Q: Did you ever have the use of that furniture?

A: No I did not.

(Trial Transcript, p. 64, lns. 18-23).

Q: (By Mr. Reed) Have you ever had possession of that furniture?

A: (By Vaughn) No, I never have.

Q: Ever use the furniture?

A: No sir.

(Trial Transcript, p. 68, lns. 13-17).

C.
Application of Law to Evidence

As set forth above, other than McPherson's statements that he relied on Vaughn because Vaughn had purchased his home and he had developed a "comfort zone" with Vaughn, there is no evidence that Vaughn agreed to hold the furniture for the benefit of McPherson or that Vaughn agreed to return the furniture.

The only testimony with respect to the care, or return, of the furniture is that Vaughn informed McPherson that he believed that Jeffrey would care for the furniture.

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