1991

Jospeh Edward McPherson, Joan Elissa McPherson  
v. Vaughn Belnap, Jeffrey Belnap : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

1. The trial Court found that McPhersons' property was placed in the possession and control of Vaughn Belnap. Vaughn Belnap, in an effort to avoid liability, claims there is no evidence to support the trial Court's findings. In fact, evidence shows that McPhersons dealt exclusively with Vaughn Belnap and not his son, Jeffrey Belnap, with respect to the storage of the property. Evidence shows that the agreement entered into between the parties was between Vaughn Belnap and the McPhersons and that Vaughn Belnap later turned control of the property over to his son Jeffrey Belnap. Finally, the facts show that Vaughn Belnap was the sole owner of the condominium unit at the time the property was stored and that in order to gain access to the property, the McPhersons contacted Vaughn Belnap. Thus, the evidence supports the trial Court's finding that a bailee-bailor relationship existed between Vaughn Belnap and the McPhersons.

2. Vaughn Belnap further claims that the trial Court erred in finding that the bailment agreement entered into between the parties was a bailment for mutual benefit. Contrary to Vaughn

Belnap's contention, the clear evidence supports the trial Court's finding that the bailment was for the mutual benefit of the parties. Both parties testified and it is undisputed that the McPhersons' agreement to move from the condominium unit prior to the expiration of the lease benefitting Vaughn Belnap by allowing him to proceed with an alleged sale. The facts demonstrate that in order to make it possible for the McPhersons to move out, Vaughn Belnap agreed to store their furniture until such time as they had accommodations that could facilitate the furniture. This bailment agreement benefited both Vaughn Belnap and the McPhersons, therefore, it was a bailment for mutual benefit.

3. A presumption of negligence may be imposed on bailee when the bailee has exclusive possession and control of the bailed goods at the time of delivery. Vaughn Belnap claims there is no evidence which supports the trial Court's conclusion that at the time the property was delivered, it was delivered to the exclusive possession of Vaughn Belnap. However, the evidence shows the McPhersons entered into an agreement with Vaughn Belnap and not Jeffrey Belnap to store the furniture in the condominium unit and the furniture was left with Vaughn Belnap. Only after the property was delivered to the exclusive possession of Vaughn Belnap did Vaughn Belnap turn over the care of the property to Jeffrey Belnap. Vaughn Belnap should not be able to escape liability for property that turned over to his possession by subsequently turning over the care and security of the property

to his son Jeffrey Belnap.

4. Vaughn Belnap finally contends that even if the presumption of negligence was correctly imposed by the trial Court, through the clear weight of evidence, he rebutted that presumption. The only evidence that Vaughn Belnap can point to to support his claim is that he locked the doors and windows on the condominium when he lived in the condominium unit prior to the time the McPhersons leased the unit from him. Further, Vaughn Belnap's son, Jeffrey Belnap, testified that even though it had been over 18 months since the date the property was allegedly stolen, he remembered locking the doors on that particular day. Thus, the only evidence that Vaughn Belnap presented was a self-serving statement of his son, Jeffrey Belnap, that the doors and windows were locked when he left the premises on that particular day. As is evident, Vaughn Belnap failed to present any evidence sufficient to rebut the presumption of negligence.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT A CONTRACT OF BAILMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE MCPHERSONS AND VAUGHN BELNAP

A. Aplicable Law

In order to establish the existence of a bailment agreement, the following facts must be shown: (1) Deliver of the property to the bailee; (2) acceptance of exclusive possession by the bailee; and (3) an agreement that the property will be returned

to the bailee at the expiration of the bailment. Wright v. Auto Haus Hortence, Inc., 472 N.E.2d 593 (1984). As stated in 8 C.J.S., §1 "A bailment is consensual relation that includes, in its broadest sense, any delivery of personal property and trust for a lawful purpose". Id. at 314. The assumption of control is a determining factor:

[A] bailee is one who receives personal property from another in trust for a specific purpose, with a contract, express or implied, that the trust shall be faithfully executed and the property returned or duly accounted for when the special purpose is accomplished.

8 C.J.S. Bailments, §1, p. 321.

Where there is a change or acceptance of possession depends on whether there is a change or acceptance of actual or potential control in fact over the subject matter. Collins v. Boeing Co., 483 P.2d 1282, 1286 (Wash. App. 1971). As stated by the Oregon Court of Appeals in Jackson v. Miller, 598 P.2d 1255 (OR. App. 1979):

Possession is defined to include the intent to exercise control over goods.... The intent to possess to assume custody or control over an object, is generally regarded as important an element of possession as actual physical control. Given exactly the same relation to an object, the person may or may not be held to be in possession thereof, according to whether or not he had the intent to exercise control over it. (Citing Brown, Personal Property, §10.3 (217)).

Id. at 1257.

The trial Court in its Findings of Fact found as follows with respect to the agreement between McPhersons and Vaughn Belnap:

2. In or about December, 1988, during the term of

the lease, Vaughn Belnap had the opportunity to sell the condominium. Vaughn Belnap asked Plaintiffs if they would be able to vacate the condominium as soon as possible as he had found a buyer for the property. Plaintiffs agreed to vacate the condominium to accommodate the sale, as long as Vaughn Belnap would let them leave the furniture in the condominium until such time as they could locate a residence which would accommodate their furniture. Vaughn Belnap agreed to this condition and stated that the furniture would be of a benefit to him because his son, Jeffrey Belnap, who was in the midst of a divorce proceeding, could use the furniture.

(Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law R. 202, Para. 2). Based on this finding of fact, the trial Court found that Vaughn Belnap and McPhersons entered into a contract of bailment, that they therefore stood in a relationship of bailee and bailor and the McPhersons' personal property was delivered to Vaughn Belnap and his son Jeffrey Belnap. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, R. 203, Para. 7; 204, Para. 1). As stated by the trial Court in its Memorandum Decision dated September 14, 1990:

The Court has concluded under the fact situation a bailment was created. Plaintiffs delivered to Defendant Vaughn Belnap not Jeffrey Belnap, the furniture, with the express understanding the furniture would be returned to Plaintiffs.

B. The Evidence Supports The Trial Court's Finding That Bailment Was Entered Into Between McPhersons And Vaughn Belnap.

1. Vaughn Belnap in his Brief maintains that the evidence does not support the trial Court's finding that a bailment was entered into between McPhersons and Vaughn Belnap. However, as will be shown below, the trial Court's findings are supported by the evidence of the case. The following evidence supports the trial Court's conclusion that a bailment was entered into between



Vaughn. It was Vaughn who had purchased our home. It was Vaughn with which I had developed a comfort zone with, and it was basically it. I was going off the assurances that his son was responsible and would take care of the property.

(Trial Transcript, p. 11, line 12 - p. 12, line 4).

c. After being questioned by the Court, Edward McPherson stated as follows regarding his conversation with Vaughn Belnap at the time Vaughn agreed to store McPherson's furniture:

The witness: When we were talking we said we were going to have to find a place for the furniture. At that time he said that his son had no furniture when he was just going through a divorce, and, you know, if we wanted to leave the furniture, that would be fine until we could find a permanent place for it, because -- this thing was a very inconvenient thing for everyone involved.

The Court: What did you say?

The witness: I said that was fine. The only thing we were concerned about was, you know, whether or not Jeff would take care of the - - you know be responsible for the furniture, I mean take care of it.

(Trial Transcript, p. 14, lines 7-20).

d. In rebuttal to Defendant's testimony, Edward McPherson testified as follows regarding the agreement between the parties:

Q: And how did - - what did Mr. Belnap state to you?

A: He said that it would probably be fine. We were - - I was looking to Vaughn because I did not know his son. Vaughn had just purchased the place from me. Vaughn owned the condominium and it was Vaughn I was looking to for security, because had it not been for Vaughn I would never have left the property at the house with his son.

(Trial Transcript, p. 73, lines 14-22).

2. In addition to the evidence already recited, the following evidence support the trial Court's finding that Vaughn

McPhersons and Defendant Vaughn Belnap:

a. On direct examination, Joseph McPherson testified as follows regarding circumstances regarding his decision to leave his furniture with Vaughn Belnap:

Q: Did you, after initial contact with Mr. Belnap, did you speak with Mr. Belnap again regarding this matter?

A: We did. I believe he was - - I believe we spoke to him at the condominium, 902 West New Hampton, and told him that, you know, we had found a place but it was furnished and now we had to do something with our furniture. And he indicated at that time that his - - it was his son - - it would be his son moving in and he was just getting divorced and he had no furniture. And so it was - - you know, he said, well, he wouldn't mind if that was left there, he would take good care of it. I was concerned because the furniture we had was very expensive, very nice furniture, and I was a little uncomfortable leaving that furniture there. But it was Vaughn, he was the person I was dealing with because it was Vaughn who had bought our house.

(Trial Transcript, p. 10, lines 5-22).

b. As to Mr. McPherson's understanding regarding the agreement between him and Vaughn Belnap, and basis for that understanding Edward McPherson testified as follows:

Q: Can you tell me what your understanding of the agreement was that you had with Vaughn Belnap regarding the storage of the furniture.

A: Well, we wanted to just - - the furniture was just to be left there long enough until we could find a permanent place to live.

Q: Now, you stated before that it was your understanding that the agreement was between you and Mr. Belnap. What was the basis of your understanding?

A: Well, being the basis - - the basis of the understanding was that the furniture was just to be left there long enough until we could find a place to live and it was done with - - my whole dealings were with

Belnap had actual and/or constructive possession and control of the bailed property.

a. Vaughn Belnap was the sole owner of the condominium unit at the time the property was stored; (Trial Transcript, p. 37, lines 4-15).

b. McPhersons' agreement with respect to storage of the property was with Vaughn Belnap, not Jeff Belnap and McPhersons dealt exclusively with Vaughn Belnap. (Trial Transcript, p. 10, lines 5-25; p. 11, line 18 - p. 12, line 7; p. 14, lines 6-14)

c. McPherson did not have access to the furniture in the condominium. In order to gain access to the property that was stored, McPhersons had to contact Vaughn Belnap or his son, Jeffrey Belnap. (Trial Transcript p. 35, line 19 - p. 36, line 4).

3. The evidence supports the trial Court's conclusion that Jeffrey Belnap was an agent, under the direction and control of Defendant Vaughn Belnap. (Trial Transcript, p. 10, lines 5-25; p. 11 line 18 - p. 12, line 7; p. 14, lines 6-14; p. 32 lines 1-13).

4. Edward McPherson on both direct and cross examination testified that Vaughn Belnap, not Jeffrey Belnap agreed to allow the McPhersons to store the furniture. Edward McPherson on direct examination stated as follows:

Q: Did you, after the initial contact with Mr. Belnap, did you speak with Mr. Belnap regarding this matter?

A: We did, I believe he was - - I believe we spoke to him at the condominium at 902 West New Hampton

and told him that, you know, we had found a place but it was furnished and now we had to do something with our furniture and he indicated at that time - - it was his son, and - - it would be his son moving in and that he was just getting divorced and he had no furniture and so it was - - well, he wouldn't mind if that was left there, he would take good care of it. (Emphasis added).

(Trial Transcript, p. 10, lines 5-16).

Edward McPherson on cross examination testified as follows:

A: We found a furnished place because that was our only option because of the circumstances surrounding the whole movement of displacing us out of a condominium which we had leased and which we were willing to break in order to accommodate Vaughn. Then we had indicated that now we needed a place for our furniture, he indicated his son was getting divorced and had no furniture, that it would be okay if we left the furniture there until he found a permanent place to live.

(Trial Transcript, p. 32, ines 4-13).

C. Application Of The Law Of The Evidence.

Vaughn Belnap seeks to avoid liability for the furniture by claiming that an agreement was not entered into by him and the McPhersons but his son and the McPhersons. Accordingly, Vaughn Belnap argues there is no evidence that he agreed to hold the furniture for the benefit of the McPhersons or that he agreed to return the furniture. However, the fact that a bailment agreement entered into between McPherson's is supported by the clear weight of evidence.

The facts show the condominium unit where the furniture was stored was solely owned by Vaughn Belnap. The facts show that in order to induce the McPhersons to move out of the condominium unit, Vaughn Belnap agreed to store their furniture until such

time as they had a place that could accommodate the furniture. All the negotiations regarding storage of the furniture took place between Vaughn Belnap and the McPhersons, Jeffrey Belnap was not involved. Further, the facts are undisputed that based on Vaughn Belnap's assurances, the property was left in the condominium unit with the understanding that the property would be returned. Finally, the undisputed facts evidence that McPhersons did not have access to their furniture in the condominium unit and were required to contact the Belnaps in order to gain access. These facts clearly support the trial Court's ruling that a bailment agreement was entered into between Vaughn Belnap and McPhersons.

II. THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE BAILMENT ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE PARTIES WAS A BAILMENT FOR MUTUAL BENEFIT

A. Applicable Law

Bailments traditionally fall into three categories: (1) Bailment for the sole benefit of the bailor (also known as a gratuitous bailment); (2) Bailment for the sole benefit of the bailee; and (3) Bailment for the mutual benefit of the bailor and the bailee (also known as a bailment for hire or the bailment for the mutual benefit of the parties). (See e.g., Christensen v. Hoover, 643 P.2d 525 (Colo. 1982); 8 Am Jur 2d Bailments, §17. The standard of care imposed on a bailee depends on the nature of the bailment.

B. The Evidence Supports The Trial Court's Finding That Bailment Entered Into Between McPhersons And Vaughn Belnap Was A Bailment For Mutual Benefit.

With respect to the issue of the type of bailment entered into between Vaughn Belnap and the McPhersons, the trial Court found as follows:

The Court fully believes that [the] bailment was for the mutual benefit of both parties. The Plaintiffs accommodated Defendant Vaughn in furthering the sale of the condominium by moving out prior to the expiration of the lease and by allowing Vaughn Belnap to use their furniture in furtherance of the sale of the condominium to his son who had no furniture.

(Findings of Fact R. 203, Para. 8).

The following evidence supports the trial Court's finding that the bailment was for the mutual benefit of both parties:

1. As discussed above, the undisputed evidence shows that after entering a Lease Agreement with the McPhersons for a period of six months, Vaughn Belnap contacted the McPhersons and requested that they move out of the condominium unit prior to the expiration of the lease in order to allow him to sell the condominium unit to a prospective buyer. Edward McPherson in his direct examination gave the following testimony:

Q: After you moved into the condominium unit, did Mr. Belnap subsequently request that you vacate the unit?

A: He did, shortly - - shortly thereafter, he notified us and said that he had gotten a buyer for the condo and could we accommodate him by moving out. And it was moving out early because we had just been there, I believe only a couple of months.

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